

15 January 2019

Geoff Francis Principle Adviser Corporate and International Taxation Division The Treasury Langton Crescent Parkes ACT 2600 E-mail: <u>prrt@treasury.gov.au</u>

Submission of the Centre for International Corporate Tax Accountability & Research (CICTAR) on the Treasury Laws Amendment (Petroleum Resource Rent Tax Reforms No. 1) Bill 2019

CICTAR welcomes the opportunity to provide a submission on the *Treasury Laws Amendment (Petroleum Resource Rent Tax Reforms No. 1) Bill 2019.* These proposed reforms are a small but positive step forward. It is unfortunate that stronger reforms to the PRRT are not being proposed and that reforms to the gas transfer pricing mechanism are being further pushed into the future. CICTAR would appreciate the opportunity to participate in any consultation regarding future proposed reforms to the PRRT, including the gas transfer pricing mechanism.

This is a very brief submission and I refer to previous submissions on the PRRT that I have made in the past on behalf of both the Tax Justice Network – Australia (TJN-Aus) and the International Transport Workers Federation (ITF) to both the Treasury and the Senate Inquiry into Corporate Tax Avoidance. I am including in this submission, a CICTAR and McKell Institute Report, <u>Taking on Tax Avoidance: A Plan to End Tax Avoidance in the Extractive</u> <u>Resources Sector</u>, which was released in mid-December 2018.

While the proposed reforms in this recent report are broader than the PRRT, they would complement and support any current and future PRRT reforms. One proposal is specifically on additional changes to the PRRT that should be considered.

Sincerely,

Jason Ward Principal Analyst Centre for International Corporate Tax Accountability & Research (CICTAR) Jason.ward@cictar.org 0488 190 457



Taking on Tax Avoidance

A Plan to End Tax Avoidance in the Extractive Resources Sector

By Jason Ward

Contents

Contents1
Foreword2
Executive Summary4
A Reform Agenda for the Taxation of Multinational Oil Giants6
Priority 1: Public Country by Country Reporting (CbCR)7
Priority 2: Mandatory Disclosure Policy for Extractives
Priority 3: Implement the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI)
Priority 4: Reform of transfer pricing regulations9
Priority 5: Eliminate reduced disclosure requirement and special purpose options for
annual financial statements filed with ASIC10
Priority 6: Mandatory Tax Transparency Code11
Priority 7: Further Reforms of the Petroleum Resource Rent Tax (PRRT)12
Priority 8: Exxon Executives should be held accountable for statements to Parliament and
tax avoidance in PNG operations owned through Australia15
Priority 9: ATO Disclosure of Significant Disputes or Settlements
Priority 10: Requiring Annual Estimates of Known Reserves
Conclusion
References

Foreword

For most Australians, paying their fair share of taxes is an accepted responsibility.

Every worker who earns over \$18,000 per year contributes income tax that pays for the services all Australians rely upon – for healthcare, for defense and security, for education, for the roads we drive on and the buses we catch to work.

Even those who are no longer working or who are unable to work contribute through the GST – an inescapable tax that falls upon all those Australians who participate in our economy.

Individuals might at times begrudge these heady responsibilities that fall on their shoulders. But they understand its importance in maintaining the Australian way. Only rarely do individual workers engage in complicated schemes to minimize their tax. And seldom are they low or middle income earners.

A vast majority of small, medium and large enterprises in Australia also do their bit – keeping on top of their affairs and paying their fair share of tax.

But while most Australian citizens and businesses are upholding their end of the bargain, too often they are being let down by a select group of large, multinational companies who are abrogating their responsibilities as corporate tax payers in Australia.

Corporate tax avoidance is increasingly common in Australia, particularly by major multinationals, many of which are in the extractive resources sector.

Unlike individuals and small businesses, major multinationals have the resources to invest in complicated schemes aimed at minimizing their tax liability within Australia.

The result is that many companies that are extracting finite Australian resources, and selling them for significant profits, are paying very little or in some cases zero tax. This unfair arrangement shifts more of the tax burden on Australian workers and compliant businesses.

Some examples of tax avoidance are particularly egregious: Exxon, for example, despite generating tens of billions in income from Australian resources and sales, last paid corporate income tax in 2013 and does not anticipate paying any corporate income tax until 2021. While Exxon is entitled to recoup investments, an 8-year tax holiday is unacceptable.

Multinational investment in Australia is a vital component of Australia's trading economy. But it is unsustainable to have tax laws that are able to be exploited by those multinationals profiting so extensively off Australian resources.

Australia's anti-tax avoidance regime needs further enhancement and further enforcement. This report plots a path forward, offering a 10 point plan that aims to strengthen Australia's existing tax avoidance regime to ensure no multinational can profit of Australian resources without paying their fair share of tax.

Executive Summary

This report tables a 10 point plan for strengthening Australia's anti-tax avoidance regime.

Tax avoidance by major multinationals is costing Australians billions of dollars every year. But while large multinationals may have become increasingly savvy at minimizing their tax burden within Australia through complicated processes, there are real steps that can be taken to make it more challenging for them to do so.

The report first argues in favour of adopting public Country-by-Country Reporting, which would require multinationals to disclose all subsidiaries and the jurisdictions they operate in, as well as information about the taxes they have paid – a policy that has been discussed but, so far, not implemented anywhere in the world.

Focusing further on transparency initiatives, this report outlines how a mandatory disclosure policy is needed to bring Australian into line with other countries. A mandatory disclosure for extractive companies would see extractive companies required to publish their payments to all levels of government. Additionally, the introduction of an Extractive Industries Transparency Initiatives would further boost transparency in the sector, and bring Australia up to speed with other countries in the region, such as Indonesia, Papua New Guinea, and the Philippines.

This report then recommends further reform to Australia's transfer pricing regulations and to eliminate reduced disclosure requirements and special purpose options for annual financial statements filed with ASIC. Major extractive companies use 'reduced disclosure requirements', or 'special purpose' options which have incomplete information and should be eliminated.

A mandatory tax transparency code is then explored. The Treasury should be tasked with analysing global best practice and develop a model framework for Australia. The Petroleum Resources Rent Tax (PRRT), also requires further reforms, as it still generates minimal

revenue. While the incumbent government, two years after initiating a review, has recently introduced some minor reforms to the PRRT, more work is needed to ensure the framework begins delivering more revenue. The major issue of the pricing the gas for PRRT has been kicked further down the road for a future government to decide. Even after recent reforms, major new offshore LNG projects are still unlikely to ever pay any PRRT.

The report concludes by offering further transparency and justice initiatives, such as ensuring executives are held to account for any misleading statements to parliament, and that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) be granted the authority to disclose major tax disputes with multinationals. Currently, the strict rules around ATO disclosure means that it is effectively prohibited from making costly corporate tax disputes public. This leaves the public in the dark about major cases of tax avoidance with significant revenue implications.

Tax avoidance by multinationals is a major issue in Australia. It undermines Australia's tax system, places increased responsibilities on individual tax payers and small businesses, and has for too long been treated with too high a degree of tolerance. As this report demonstrates, there are practical ways in which the Australian government can tackle tax avoidance, and ensure all businesses in Australia – big and small – are operating on an even playing field.

A Reform Agenda for the Taxation of Multinational Oil Giants

The Australian Government has implemented changes to tax policy that have impacted future tax payments of Exxon and other multinational oil companiesⁱ; however, there are several other tax policy proposals that should be enacted to ensure integrity of the system and fair payments to the Australian people for the exploitation of finite natural resources and the domestic marketing of petroleum products.

Greater public awareness and political will are needed to make these essential changes as soon as possible. This report explores several existing policy proposals that should be enhanced and embraced, as well as some new policies that should be considered. It should also be noted that there are obvious connections and inter-relationships to the domestic energy market where there have also been significant policy failures with major consequences for Australian industry and consumers.

Priority 1: Public Country by Country Reporting (CbCR)

The Federal Opposition has included implementation of public CbCR as part of a broader set of tax policies.^{II} While Australia^{III} and other countries^{IV} have implemented CbCR, it is only seen by the tax office and not publicly available. CbCR requires all multinational companies to disclose all subsidiaries in all jurisdictions along with basic information about economic activity and taxes paid. The ATO has publicly stated that this information has been very useful for them.^V While other countries and the EU have discussed public CbCR^{VI} it has not yet been implemented anywhere^{VII}. Allowing the public to have access to this data would help to hold Exxon and other multinationals accountable in Australia and globally.

A version of public CbCR was included as a recommendation in the final report (30 May) Senate Inquiry into Corporate Tax Avoidance^{viii} but opposed by Government Senators.

A study based on the CbCR that analyses the misalignment between economic activities and taxes paid should be undertaken by appropriate federal authorities. This would be a useful exercise, but importantly would make it easier to explain the impact, purpose and potential of public CbCR. The impact on the corporate tax debate in Australia could be even more significant than the introduction of the corporate tax transparency data which is already legislated.

A recent study on the implementation of public CbCR reporting on banks in the EU has shown a meaningful impact on curbing corporate tax avoidance.^{ix} The OECD BEPS (Base Erosion & Profit Shifting) Action 13 report provides a template that can easily be adopted for a public CbCR.^x Several multinational firms, including Unilever and Vodafone Group plc, already voluntarily publish a version of CbCR and other companies are also likely to begin voluntary reporting^{xi}.

Priority 2: Mandatory Disclosure Policy for Extractives

The Federal Opposition has adopted a mandatory disclosure policy for extractive companies which would bring Australia in line with other countries, including the UK, Canada and the EU which already have these policies in place^{xii}. Mandatory Disclosure is similar to public CbCR except it provides even more detail on a range of tax payments, but only applies to large extractive companies. Mandatory Disclosure requires public disclosure of all payments to all levels of government on a project by project basis. This would include payments such as licenses and fees, royalties, income tax, and others depending on the project. Implementation of Mandatory Disclosure for Extractives in both the UK and Canada provide existing models which Australia can easily follow.

It is worth noting that Australia's two largest extractive companies, BHP and Rio, are already in compliance with mandatory disclosure policies because they are dual listed in the UK. Therefore, those companies would be likely to support mandatory disclosure in Australia. They would also have limited opposition to public CbCR since they already disclose global information on tax payments by country. It is also worth noting that Glencore's mandatory disclosure report in the UK provides far more information on tax payments in Australia than any data publicly available from Australia.^{xiii} The UK mandatory disclosure filings of Glencore show that the Swiss-based company paid very little tax in Australia but paid more tax in Australia than in any other country.

Priority 3: Implement the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI)

The EITI is a global initiative designed to increase transparency and reduce corruption in the resource sector. The EITI was launched in 2003. Fifty-one countries have implemented the EITI, but Australia is not among them. Despite being a major global funder of EITI and pledging to join in 2016 very little domestic progress has been made.^{xiv} As a necessary step, the Australian Government established a Multi-Stakeholder Group representing civil society,

government and industry, but more than two years on has failed to even apply for EITI candidacy from the International Secretariat.

Several other countries in the region, including Indonesia, the Philippines, PNG, as well as other jurisdictions are EITI compliant, but Australia is not.^{xv} Ironically, the Australian government is a major funder of the global EITI initiative and provides development aid to countries for EITI implementation that are much further along in the process than Australia. Future Australian governments can provide leadership, and immediately apply for EITI candidacy and aim for certification by 2021, or as soon as possible. The EITI is another means of providing public transparency on payments to government and resource extraction. At the moment, there is more public information on resource extraction in Indonesia, the Philippines and many other countries than there is in Australia.

It is worth noting that Exxon and Chevron have been on the global EITI board, but civil society organisations in the US are demanding that they be removed from the global board as they have undermined the EITI process in the US under the Trump administration by refusing to provide information to the EITI on tax payments in the US^{xvi}.

Priority 4: Reform of transfer pricing regulations

Exxon has faced additional tax assessments by the ATO for interest deductions for offshore related party loans that have been disallowed under new ATO practical compliance guidelines. These guidelines were a direct result of the ATO's landmark Federal Court case against Chevron^{xvii}. However, the Government should consider the further strengthening of transfer pricing regulations beyond offshore related party debt, including updated transfer pricing policies and guidelines and annual certification with director and auditor liability in the case of an identified breach of new guidelines.

The Federal Court ruling in the Chevron case explicitly redefined the current meaning of "arm's length" as used in the global OECD transfer pricing guidelines. The Federal Court

rejected the long-standing legal principle that allowed transactions between subsidiaries of the same multinational to be at "arm's length" on the basis that they were between separate legal entities. A reinvigorated transfer pricing policy could require annual certification or review of compliance on all forms of transfer pricing by multinationals. CFOs, company directors and auditors could be held liable for any breaches of renewed transfer pricing guidelines. The Government should commit to examine the experience of similar policies in countries such as Canada and Mexico, and propose new transfer guidelines that match international best practice.

The Federal Opposition does have an existing policy to limit interest deductions to a company's global gearing ratio. This would help tighten the rules.

The final report of the Senate Inquiry into Corporate Tax Avoidance recommended that "the Government undertake an independent review into the detriment to Australian tax revenue that arises from the current transfer pricing regime, and explore options to modify transfer pricing rules, or other tax laws, to ensure multinational enterprises make the appropriate contribution to Australian tax revenue."^{xviii}

These changes to transfer pricing rules could collect income tax revenues from Exxon's significant downstream fuel business in Australia. Currently, the high cost of buying oil and other imports or services from related parties in Singapore and other markets is very likely to transfer profits from Exxon's downstream business out of Australia. This is clearly the case in New Zealand, where there is no upstream business, and very likely in other markets with significant downstream operations.^{xix}

Priority 5: Eliminate reduced disclosure requirement and special purpose options for annual financial statements filed with ASIC

Exxon and most other multinationals currently use reduced disclosure requirements or special purpose options to file annual financial statements with ASIC for private subsidiaries incorporated in Australia. These reduce disclosure requirement filings have far less information than required by the full set of Australian accounting standards. The Government should immediately eliminate reduced disclosure requirements as an option for Australian subsidiaries of multinationals with Australian revenue of over \$500 million. After implementation, companies could be given a 6-month grace period after which any future annual reports would not be able to use reduced disclosure or special purpose options. The increased cost of compliance would be minimal.

The Australian Accounting Standards Board has initiated a consultation process on related reforms to maintain compliance with international reporting standards. This process is likely to recommend that reduced disclosure requirements be eliminated for large companies. The final report of the Senate Inquiry into Corporate Tax Avoidance unanimously recommended that "the Government require all companies, trusts and other financial entities with income above a certain amount to lodge general purpose financial statements with" ASIC^{xx}.

Priority 6: Mandatory Tax Transparency Code

The Senate Inquiry, mentioned above, recommended that "the existing voluntary tax transparency code be converted, as soon as practicable, to a mandatory code for all large and medium corporations operating in Australia, including subsidiaries of multinational corporations."^{xxi} Exxon has tried to hide behind the report that it submitted as part of the voluntary tax transparency code. The tax transparency codes submitted by Exxon and Glencore offer the best examples of why a voluntary code is useless and highly misleading.^{xxii} It is also worth noting that Glencore is currently suing the ATO over leaked documents that explain Glencore's aggressive tax practices and that Exxon has spent over \$10 million in fighting the ATO in courts.^{xxiii}

The Government should commit to creating a mandatory tax transparency code and include a link to each company's tax transparency report as part of the current annual disclosure by the ATO of the existing corporate tax transparency data. The ATO data should also include the value of any tax losses carried forward in the corporate tax transparency data. These changes would likely be acceptable to most businesses, make the data more useful and create a model for corporate tax transparency that other countries should be encouraged to implement.

The Government should task the Australian Treasury with analysing global best practices in mandatory tax transparency codes and initiate a consultation period to develop explicit guidelines and requirements for mandatory tax transparency reports by companies. Implementation of a mandatory tax transparency code and improvements to the corporate tax transparency data should be concluded within a 12-month timeframe.

Priority 7: Further Reforms of the Petroleum Resource Rent Tax (PRRT)

The PRRT is currently failing to generate revenue from Australia's booming offshore LNG exports^{xxiv}. As a 25% owner of the massive Chevron operated Gorgon project, Exxon benefits from the failure of the PRRT. Under the current PRRT system, Exxon and other companies are extracting and exporting Australia's offshore gas and have been getting it for free for decades. It is also worth noting that the PRRT payments that Exxon has made on its 50% interest in Bass Strait are significantly lower than BHP's, which owns the other 50%.^{xxv} The vast majority of all PRRT payments come from Bass Strait.

Significant, but reasonable, reforms to the PRRT are possible which would not impact the long-term investment returns of the project, keep Australia globally competitive and guarantee that Australia is getting a minimal return from the exploitation of our finite natural resources. This has been demonstrated by recent Federal Government policy aimed at delivering more sustainable PRRT revenue in the future^{xxvi} – though more can be done.

With the exception of the gas reservation policy in Western Australia, all of the new offshore gas resources are exported while Australia's east coast gas market faces shortages and spikes in prices. While Australia is on the verge of being the world's largest exporter of LNG, there is serious discussion of LNG import terminals being built to supply the east coast market.

The 2018 NSW ALP Conference approved significant and meaningful reforms to the PRRT which have been referred to ALP National Conference. Theses reform proposals have been supported by the Greens and a wide range of smaller political parties across the political spectrum. The final report of the aforementioned Senate Inquiry into Corporate Tax Avoidance, however, failed to make meaningful recommendations on PRRT reforms.

The one possible exception is the recommendation "that the gas transfer pricing method... be reformed to make it simpler and more transparent so as to ensure that it delivers a fair return to the community." Unfortunately, the Government's recent proposed changes to the PRRT have not addressed the gas transfer pricing method, but "asked Treasury to lead a review of the gas transfer pricing arrangements" and "report back within 12 to 18 months."^{xxvii}

The Government's Callaghan Review into the PRRT, which was first announced in November 2016, estimated that if the "net-back method" – a method for calculating the market value of gas by detracting processing, manufacturing, transport and other costs from the raw price of the commodity - were used as the default method to value gas, PRRT revenue would increase by \$89 billion between 2023 and 2050 and result in bring forward the timing and volume of future PRRT payments.^{xxviii} Using the net-back method as the default method for pricing gas on all integrated LNG projects was also discussed as an option in the Australian Treasury's Consultation Paper, "Options to address the design issues identified in the Petroleum Resource Rent Tax Review", from June 2017.^{xxix} The key problems in the current gas transfer pricing mechanism are a lack of transparency and the ability to use transfer pricing in an integrated project to artificially lower PRRT payments.^{xxxx}

The final report of the Senate Committee also recommended that "the Government overhaul uplift rates for future Petroleum Resource Rent Tax eligible projects, so as to make them less generous." This has now been done – in part – with the Government's proposed PRRT reforms which are estimated to raise \$6 billion in additional revenue over the decade.^{xxxi}

Applying a 10% royalty to all offshore gas projects that are currently only subject to the PRRT – a proposal that was the subject of a previous McKell Institute report - is estimated to produce \$2.8 billion in revenue per year^{xxxii}. This compares to Chevron and Exxon both admitting in Senate testimony that they did not expect to pay any PRRT -or any other royalty-on the Gorgon and Wheatstone projects until the mid-2030s at the earliest. It is possible, as outlined in some scenarios in the Callaghan Review, that they would never pay any PRRT on these projects.

The 10% royalty would level the playing field for all oil and gas projects, most of which already pay a 10% royalty, and could have a positive impact on the GST distribution formula. Current royalty payments from the North West Shelf project are disappearing rapidly as new offshore fields are not covered by the existing NWS royalty scheme and only by the ineffective PRRT regime.^{xxxiii} This decline in royalties is causing more of the GST revenues to be sent to Western Australia and decreasing GST distributions to other states. A proposed 10% royalty, on top of the reformed PRRT system, would go a long way to addressing national shortfalls in GST revenue and distribution.

Some in the industry have complained of sovereign risk and retrospectivity, arguing that any changes to current taxation regimes could undermine investment in current and future projects. These issues, however, are overblown and being used as a scare tactic to minimise changes to the current PRRT system, which sees Australia collect considerably less revenue as a percentage of oil and gas production than other major producers. Several recent studies by academics have shown that Australia's fiscal regime for oil and gas is exceedingly generous by global standards.^{xxxiv} Even with the proposed 10% royalty and other PRRT reforms, Australia's fiscal regime would remain among the world's most competitive. The current PRRT system was designed decades ago for oil exploration and not the current surge in offshore gas

production and desperately needs to be modernised. The current system was designed to incentivise the development of marginal oil projects which in today's environment no longer makes sense.



Figure 1.1: Government revenues from oil and gas as a % of production volume, 2014. Source: International Transport Workers' Federation.^{xxxv}

Priority 8: Exxon Executives should be held accountable for statements to Parliament and tax avoidance in PNG operations owned through Australia

In 2015, Exxon was specifically asked to provide information on relationships and transactions with related parties offshore. At that time, Exxon failed to disclose the basic fact that company was owned through a shell company in the Netherlands, then through the Bahamas and then through two separate Delaware entities. After the final hearing of the inquiry, in which the focus was entirely on Exxon, the company was asked to provide the full details of the ownership structure related to Australia. While Exxon's response to questions on notice did confirm the Dutch, Bahamas and Delaware entities which own the Australian business, the company failed to disclose the separate ownership of the company's upstream business in Papua New Guinea (PNG).

Exxon's upstream investment and LNG production and export from PNG is of major global significance for the company. While revenues from the PNG LNG project have been huge, payments to governments and traditional landowners have been minimal and there has been civil unrest as a result. There is significant evidence of aggressive tax avoidance by Exxon and its partners, including two Australian companies, in PNG.^{xxxvi} LNG is exported to a number of large Asian customers through sales contracts through the Bahamas. The Bahamas entity has also lent money to the PNG LNG project. While the ATO has cracked down on the use of Singapore as a marketing hub for resource companies in Australia, using the Bahamas as a marketing hub to sell to Asian customers takes this practice to a different level.

Given that the ownership of this project runs through an Australian incorporated entity, that is also a taxpayer in Australia, the Government should demand that the ATO assist the PNG Government in investigating Exxon's corporate structures in PNG and make sure that appropriate taxes and payments are made to both Governments and to traditional landowners in PNG. It is possible that the Australian ownership may help shield Exxon from the US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA), which imposes significant penalties for bribery and corruption. The FCPA is significantly stronger and more easily enforced than any comparable laws in Australia.

Priority 9: ATO Disclosure of Significant Disputes or Settlements

Exxon has been involved in several Federal Court challenges against the ATO to challenge assessments of both PRRT and income tax and to prevent the disclosure of company information. In Exxon's recent response to questions on notice they estimated having spent \$10 million in legal costs fighting the ATO. The ability of Exxon and other multinational companies to constantly challenge the ATO -and tie up limited Government resources in expensive legal costs- has an impact on the broader integrity of the tax system.

The ATO cannot discuss information about any individual corporate taxpayer. The Government should consider amending laws to allow the ATO to publicly reveal information concerning corporate tax disputes over a certain threshold. If a tax dispute with a major corporation concerns hundreds of millions of dollars, the matter should be considered of national significance and the public's right to know should take precedent over a company's right to privacy. Increased disclosure of major corporate tax disputes would act as a deterrent, make it clearer to other companies what tax practices will not be tolerated, and increase transparency.

Similarly, settlements that the ATO reaches with corporate taxpayers that are over a certain threshold in value or set important precedents should also be made public.

Priority 10: Requiring Annual Estimates of Known Reserves

The Government must require companies to disclose annual estimates of known reserves that they control. It is impossible to make public policy decisions without having access to estimates of resources that are owned by the Australian Government. Australia is unique in not collecting and publishing information on the nation's resources and their exploitation. One key flaw revealed in the Callaghan review was that the government does not actually possess reliable data on known reserves and/or the ability to predict future production levels. Data was purchased from industry consultant Wood Mackenzie and companies were allowed to alter the data to suggest higher future PRRT payments.

The vast majority - 87% - of new offshore gas production capacity, which is only subject to PRRT and no other form of royalty payments, is owned by foreign multinationals. Woodside is the only Australian company with an interest in new offshore gas resources. The largest multinationals exploiting Australia's world leading new offshore gas resources – Chevron, Exxon and Shell – all have a track record in Australia and globally of aggressive tax avoidance. It is also worth noting that there is significant ownership by several foreign state-controlled enterprises that have made investments in Australia specifically to secure their own nation's energy security.

There are clearly major revenue implications and strong national interests at stake and modest and reasonable reforms to increase transparency on taxation and resource reserves across Australia's oil and gas sector are desperately needed.

Conclusion

Tax avoidance in the extractive resource sector is a global problem Australia is not immune to. As a continent-nation richly endowed in resources, Australians should enjoy living in a country the capitalizes as well as it can on the economic benefits associated with its natural bounty.

But current regulations do not go far enough in ensuring multinational companies within Australia – particularly those major companies within the extractive resources sector – pay their fair share of tax.

Unlike individuals and small businesses, major multinationals have the resources to exploit loopholes and conceive complicated tax avoidance strategies that take advantage of their footprints in multiple jurisdictions. The result is that, while many companies profit greatly from the extraction and selling of Australia's finite natural resources, they often do so without paying any tax on their income.

This report has put forward ten recommendations that would strengthen Australia's anti tax avoidance regime with a particular focus on transparency. By making the dealings of the industry more transparent, companies that do the wrong thing – and governments that fail to enact strong and vital regulations – can be held to account.

It is time the Federal Government began to treat the issue of tax avoidance in the extractive resources sector with the urgency it deserves. Doing so will help improve the budget bottom line, and help ensure the extractive resources sector benefits all Australians, not just a select few.

References

ⁱ The Treasury, 2018. 'Toughening the Multinational Anti Avoidance Law'. Accessed online: https://treasury.gov.au/consultation/c2018-t261444/

ⁱⁱ <u>http://www.theirfairshare.org.au/</u>; Public Reporting of Worldwide Tax Affairs.

^{III} Australian Taxation Office, 2019. 'Country by Country Reporting'. Accessed online: https://www.ato.gov.au/Business/International-tax-for-business/In-detail/Transfer-pricing/Countryby-Country-reporting/

^{iv} O'Brien, K., Geuther, J., Calva, M., Emmerink, F. 2017. 'Country-by-country reporting'. Journal of International Taxation, 28:3. 43-49.

^v Chris Pash, 9 October 2018, Business Insider Australia, 'The ATO has squeezed an extra \$5.6 billion in tax from multinationals'. <u>https://www.businessinsider.com.au/ato-crackdown-multinationals-2018-10</u>

^{vi} European Commission, 2016. 'Public country-by-country reporting'. Accessed online: https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/company-reporting-and-auditing/companyreporting/public-country-country-reporting_en

^{vii} Financial Transparency Coalition, 2017. 'Public country by country reporting: state of play in Europe'. Accessed online: https://eurodad.org/files/pdf/5a38ca30553a1.pdf

^{viii}Parliament of Australia, 2018. 'Corporate Tax Avoidance report – Part III: Much heat, little light so far'. Accessed online:

https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/Senate/Economics/Corporatetax45th/ Report

^{ix} Overesch, Michael and Wolff, Hubertus, Financial Transparency to the Rescue: Effects of Countryby-Country Reporting in the EU Banking Sector on Tax Avoidance (July 1, 2018). Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3075784 or <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3075784</u>

* OECD, 2017, 'Country-by-Country Reporting XML Schema: User Guide for Tax Administrations', pp. 44-46, Appendix C: Template for the Country-by-Country Report. <u>https://www.oecd.org/tax/country-by-country-reporting-xml-schema-user-guide-for-tax-administrations.pdf</u>

^{xi} OECD, 2018. 'Guidance on the Implementation of Country by Country Reporting: BEPS ACTION 13'. Accessed online: <u>http://www.oecd.org/ctp/guidance-on-the-implementation-of-country-by-country-reporting-beps-action-13.pdf</u>

^{xii} The Guardian, 31 October 2017. 'Labor plans to force Australian mining companies to disclose taxes paid overseas'. Accessed online: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2017/oct/31/labor-plans-to-force-australian-mining-companies-to-disclose-taxes-paid-overseas</u>

xⁱⁱⁱ Glencore plc, 29 June 2018, Annual extractive report: 2017. https://extractives.companieshouse.gov.uk/company/ZE6158F0 ^{xiv} Joint release with the Minister for Foreign Affairs, the Hon Julie Bishop MP, and the Minister for Resources, Energy and Northern Australia, the Hon Josh Frydenberg MP, 6 May 2016, "Increasing transparency in the global resources sector".

https://www.minister.industry.gov.au/ministers/frydenberg/media-releases/increasingtransparency-global-resources-sector

** <u>https://eiti.org/</u>

^{xvi} Business Day, 7 February 2018. 'NGOs want Exxon and Chevron kicked off anti-corruption extractive industries body'. Accessed online: <u>https://www.businesslive.co.za/bd/companies/2018-02-</u> <u>07-ngos-want-exxon-and-chevron-kicked-off-anti-corruption-extractive-industries-body/</u>

^{xvii} ABC News, 21 April 2017. 'US oil giant Chevron faces \$300 million tax bill after ATO court victory'. Accessed online; <u>https://www.abc.net.au/news/2017-04-21/chevron-faces-massive-tax-bill-after-ato-court-victory/8460874</u>

^{xviii} Parliament of Australia, 2018. 'Corporate Tax Avoidance report – Part III: Much heat, little light so far'. Accessed online:

https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/Senate/Economics/Corporatetax45th/ Report

xix Joint Submission of the Tax Justice Network – Australia (TJN) and the Make Exxon Pay Coalition to the Senate Economics References Committee for the Inquiry into Corporate Tax Avoidance, 9 February 2018. <u>https://www.aph.gov.au/DocumentStore.ashx?id=94e165ea-4835-4461-a638af5d2526820c&subId=563531</u>

** Parliament of Australia, 2018. 'Corporate Tax Avoidance report – Part III: Much heat, little light so far'.

^{xxi} Ibid.

x*ii Glencore's 2018 Australia Tax Factsheet <u>http://www.glencore.com.au/en/publications/fact-sheets/Documents/Tax%20Factsheet_October2018.pdf</u>; ExxonMobil Australia's 2018 Tax Facts <u>https://www.exxonmobil.com.au/en-au/company/news-and-updates/publications/exxonmobil-australia-tax-facts</u>

xxiii Neil Chenoweth, 8 October 2018, Australian Financial Review, "The documents Glencore doesn't want the ATO to keep". <u>https://www.afr.com/business/mining/the-documents-glencore-doesnt-want-the-ato-to-see-20181007-h16c8v</u>; Christopher Knaus, 3 July 2018, The Guardian, "ExxonMobil spent \$10m fighting Australian Tax Office".

https://www.theguardian.com/business/2018/jul/03/exxonmobil-spent-10m-fighting-australian-taxoffice

^{xxiv} Holden, R., & D'Cruz, M. 2017. 'Harnessing the Boom: How Australia Can Better Capture the Benefits of the Natural Gas Boom'. The McKell Institute. Accessed online: <u>https://mckellinstitute.org.au/research/reports/harnessing-the-boom/</u>

^{xxv} Christopher Knaus, 14 March 2018, The Guardian, "ExxonMobil says it doesn't expect to pay any Australian corporate tax until 2021".

https://www.theguardian.com/business/2018/mar/14/exxonmobil-doesnt-expect-to-pay-any-australian-tax-until-2021-inquiry-hears

^{xxvi} The Sydney Morning Herald, 2 November 2018. 'Oil and gas giants hit with \$6 billion tax hike'. Accessed online: <u>https://www.smh.com.au/politics/federal/oil-and-gas-giants-hit-with-6-billion-tax-hike-20181102-p50dn6.html</u>

^{xxvii} Government Response to the Petroleum Resource Rent Review <u>https://static.treasury.gov.au/uploads/sites/1/2018/11/p2018-t339508-govt-response-PRRT.pdf</u>

^{xxviii} Mike Callaghan, 2017, Petroleum Resource Rent Tax Review, Final Report, 13 April, the Treasury, the Australian Government, p.91. <u>https://treasury.gov.au/review/review-of-the-petroleum-resource-rent-tax/final-report/</u>

xxix <u>https://treasury.gov.au/consultation/options-to-address-the-design-issues-identified-in-the-petroleum-resource-rent-tax-review/</u>

*** These issues are discussed in depth in the Tax Justice Network – Australia, Submission to Treasury In response to Consultation Paper from June 30 2017. <u>https://static.treasury.gov.au/uploads/sites/1/2017/08/C2017_T211950_Tax-Justice-Network-Australia.pdf</u>

^{xxxi} Shane Wright and Peter Milne, 3 November 2018, The West Australian, "Oil, gas tax shake-up to raise extra \$6 billion". <u>https://thewest.com.au/business/mining/oil-gas-tax-shake-up-to-raise-extra-6-billion-ng-b881010411z</u>

^{xxxii} Holden, R., & D'Cruz, M. 2017. 'Harnessing the Boom: How Australia Can Better Capture the Benefits of the Natural Gas Boom'. The McKell Institute. Accessed online: <u>https://mckellinstitute.org.au/research/reports/harnessing-the-boom/</u>

^{xxxiii} Paul Garvey, 14 May 2018, The Australian, "WA budget: Decline in NW Shelf gas to hit royalties revenue". <u>https://www.theaustralian.com.au/business/mining-energy/looming-fall-in-nw-shelf-gas-</u> to-hit-wa-budget/news-story/183b322163da811eec1f21f548cabce2

^{xxxiv} Joanna Mather, 13 March 2017, "PRRT too 'generous', says expert". <u>https://www.afr.com/news/policy/tax/prrt-too-generous-says-expert-20170313-guwrxi</u>; Daria Crisan and Jack Mintz, 2016, "Alberta's New Royalty Regime Is a Step towards Competitiveness: A 2016 Update." SPP Research Papers 9 (35), available at http://www.policyschool.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2016/10/AB-NewRoyalty-Regime-Crisan-Mintz-final.pdf p.9; Eryk Bagshaw, 12 March 2018, Sydney Morning Herald, "'Staggering': \$90 billion lost in resources tax". <u>https://www.smh.com.au/politics/federal/staggering-90-billion-lost-in-resources-tax-20180305p4z2uv.html</u>; Submission of Juan Carlos Boue, Oxford University Energy Institute to the Senate Inquiry into Corporate Tax Avoidance, "Upstream Petroleum Taxation in Australia in Comparative Perspective, With Speical Focus on the United Kingdom". <u>https://www.aph.gov.au/DocumentStore.ashx?id=aa27f980-b24e-451f-b354-</u> 76487f21702b&subId=563105

xxxv International Transport Workers' Federation, 2016. 'An international comparison of Australian government revenues from oil and gas production'. Accessed online: https://static1.squarespace.com/static/574507cde707eb332424b26a/t/582d463d2994ca1039bbe7e 7/1479362112693/ITF+PRRT+Brief+3+nov2016.pdf

xxxvi Joint Submission of the Tax Justice Network – Australia (TJN) and the Make Exxon Pay Coalition to the Senate Economics References Committee for the Inquiry into Corporate Tax Avoidance, 9 February 2018. <u>https://www.aph.gov.au/DocumentStore.ashx?id=94e165ea-4835-4461-a638af5d2526820c&subId=563531</u>

--

About The McKell Institute

The McKell Institute is a progressive research institute dedicated to providing practical and innovative solutions to contemporary policy challenges.

www.mckellinstitute.org.au

About the Center for International Corporate Tax

Accountability & Research (CICTAR)

CICTAR is a global corporate tax research centre that produces information and analysis about corporate taxation. The Centre is a collective resource for workers and the wider public to understand how multinational tax policy and practice affects their daily lives. CICTAR's work supports public participation in the tax debate so that everybody can take part in decision-making which affects their communities.

www.cictar.org

About the Author

Jason Ward is the Principal Analyst at CICTAR. Mr Ward has been a frequent commentator on corporate tax issues as an analyst and spokesperson for the Tax Justice Network – Australia. He is currently an adjunct senior researcher with the University of Tasmania's Institute for the Study of Social Change. Over the last several years Jason Ward has conducted in-depth research on Chevron, Exxon, the Petroleum Resource Rent Tax (PRRT), the tax practices of large for-profit aged care companies and most recently on outsourced service providers with large ATO contracts.